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	JOSH BAAZOV, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec [...]
and
CRAIG LEVETT, residing at [...], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
and
NATHALIE BENSMIHAN, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
and
ISAM MANSOUR, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
and
MONA KASSFY, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
and
ALLIE MANSOUR, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
and
JOHN CHATZIDAKIS, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, […]
and
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ALAIN ANAWATI, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]

and
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and
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and
FERAS ANTOON, residing at […], Saint-Laurent, Quebec […]
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	And
DAVID BAAZOV, […], Pointe-Claire, Quebec […]
and
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and
TORONTO-DOMINION BANK, a legally constituted legal person domiciled at 2065 St-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Quebec  H4M 1P1
and
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and
TD WATERHOUSE CANADA INC., having a place of business at 2065 Saint‑Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Montréal, H4M 1P1

and
RBC DIRECT INVESTING INC., having a place of business at 1 Place Ville‑Marie, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec  H3C 3A9
and
DUNDEE SECURITIES LTD., having a place of business at 1250 René‑Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec  H3B 5E9

and
BMO INVESTORLINE INC., having a place of business at 630 René‑Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec  H3B 1S6

and
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, having a place of business at 1002 Sherbrooke Street West, Montréal, Quebec  H3A 3L6

and
INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE, having a place of business at 1080 Grande Allée West, Québec, Quebec  G1S 1C7

	Impleaded Parties

	

	

	DECISION 

Ex parte freeze orders, orders to cease trading in securities, order revoking registration rights and suspending a certificate and ban on publication, release and disclosure

	[ss. 152, 249 and 265, Securities Act, CQLR, c. V‑1.1, s. 115, Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services, CQLR, c. D‑9.2, ss. 93 and 115.9, Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers, CQLR, c. A‑33.2, and ss. 44 and 62, Rules of procedure of the Bureau de décision et de révision, CQLR, c. A‑33.2, r. 1]

	

	

	


BACKGROUND
[1] On March 7, 2016, the Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter “AMF”) filed an application with the Bureau de décision et de révision (hereinafter “Bureau”) seeking an ex parte hearing to obtain the following conclusions:
· Freeze orders against the following respondents and in relation to the following impleaded parties:
Respondents
· Josh Baazov;

· Craig Levett;
· Nathalie Bensmihan;
· Isam Mansour;
· Mona Kassfy;
· Allie Mansour;
· John Chatzidakis;
· Eleni Psicharis;
· Alain Anawati;
· Karl Fallenbaum;
· Earl Levett;
· Feras Antoon; and
· Mark Wael Antoon.
Impleaded parties
· Toronto-Dominion Bank;
· National Bank Financial;

· TD Waterhouse Canada Inc.;

· RBC Direct Investing Inc.;

· Dundee Securities Ltd.;

· BMO InvestorLine Inc.;

· The Bank of Nova Scotia; and
· Industrial Alliance.

· Orders against the following respondents to cease trading in securities:
· Josh Baazov;

· Craig Levett;
· Nathalie Bensmihan;
· Isam Mansour;
· Mona Kassfy;
· Allie Mansour;
· John Chatzidakis;
· Eleni Psicharis;
· Alain Anawati;
· Karl Fallenbaum;
· Earl Levett;
· Feras Antoon; and
· Mark Wael Antoon.
· A suspension of the rights granted to the respondent John Chatzidakis by his registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer, and a suspension of his certificate of practice numbered […] in all sectors for which he is registered.

[2] The application was made under sections 93 and 115.9 of the Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers,
 sections 152, 249 and 265 of the Securities Act
 and section 115 of the Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services.

[3] The AMF’s application was presented under section 115.9 of the Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers,
 which states that a decision adversely affecting the rights of a person may, where it is imperative to do so, be rendered by the Bureau without a prior hearing. Along with its application, the AMF filed the affidavit required by section 19 of the Rules of procedure of the Bureau de décision et de révision.

[4] On March 8, 2016, the Bureau held an ex parte hearing to hear the AMF’s application on the merits.
[5] During the hearing on March 8, 2016, the AMF amended its initial application to correct some mistakes with spelling and numerical errors. The amendments to the application are recorded in the minutes of the hearing.
[6] During the ex parte hearing on March 8, 2016, after Exhibits D‑1 to D‑188 were filed, the tribunal asked the AMF to prepare and give it a document containing precise references to the information presented in evidence during the hearing and set out in those exhibits.
[7] On March 11, 2016, the AMF asked the Bureau to hold an ex parte hearing the following week so it could present a request to reopen the inquiry in the case at hand. The Bureau then scheduled that hearing for March 14, 2016.
HEARING
[8] On March 8, 2016, an ex parte hearing was held at the Bureau’s head office in the presence of counsel for the AMF.

[9] Further to a request by counsel for the AMF, the tribunal rendered the following decision during the hearing, in the public interest, pursuant to sections 59 and 62 of the Rules of procedure of the Bureau de décision et de révision:
 

[translation]

With respect to your request for a closed-door hearing and a ban on publication, disclosure and release:
With the exception of the Autorité des marchés financiers and its representatives:
ORDERS that this hearing be closed-door until all parties have been served and the decision has been made public;

With the exception of the Autorité des marchés financiers and its representatives:
BANS the publication, release and disclosure of this file, including the application and supporting exhibits, until all parties have been served and the decision has been made public
. 

[10] These orders must not be interpreted as preventing the parties, after they have been served with the decision, from consulting the Bureau’s file so they can exercise their right under section 115.9 of the Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers.

[11] Counsel for the AMF called an investigator who works for that body to testify. In his testimony, he recounted all the facts alleged against the respondents that are set out in the AMF’s amended application. The investigator also filed Exhibits D‑1 to D‑188 in support of his testimony. 

[12] According to the AMF’s evidence, the investigation concerns eight incidents in which privileged information about issuers was shared illegally and used unlawfully by the respondents to realize profits, through a similar modus operandi.

[13] The AMF investigator told the tribunal that the investigation has shown that impleaded party David Baazov, the Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and second shareholder of Amaya Gaming Group Inc. (hereinafter “Amaya”), appears to be the main source of numerous leaks of privileged information, including from that reporting issuer in Quebec. 

[14] That privileged information was allegedly relayed to the respondents in various ways, and particularly through the respondent Josh Baazov, who is the brother of impleaded party David Baazov. The information, which had not been disclosed to the public, was allegedly then used by the respondents for unlawful stock exchange transactions through which they allegedly amassed profits that are currently estimated at over $1 million. The respondents allegedly even include a representative of a mutual fund dealer currently registered with the AMF. 

[15] The investigator stated that there is an imminent risk that the respondents will continue similar unlawful activities. In this regard, he stated that the investigation has uncovered recent stock exchange transactions by several respondents in the securities of Amaya. According to the AMF investigator, those respondents have allegedly once again benefited from illegally obtained privileged information concerning Amaya and, in particular, the announcement by impleaded party David Baazov that he intends to privatize that company eventually.   

[16] In light of this situation, counsel for the AMF argued that there are imperative reasons for immediate intervention by the tribunal to protect the public interest. In this regard, they told the Bureau that the AMF’s application suggests a detailed set of measures designed to protect the public and maintain market integrity. 

[17] On March 14, 2016, a second ex parte hearing was held in the case at hand at the Bureau’s head office in the presence of one counsel for the AMF. 

[18] An in camera hearing was ordered by the tribunal, and counsel for the AMF requested orally that the inquiry be reopened.

[19] Counsel for the AMF stated that, when preparing the reference document referred to in paragraph 6 of this decision, she realized that nine of the one hundred and eighty‑eight exhibits filed in two binders during the hearing on March 8, 2016 were not complete.

[20] After counsel for the AMF explained and made her arguments, the Bureau authorized the AMF’s request to reopen the inquiry and authorized the replacement of the above‑mentioned nine exhibits with complete versions.
 

[21] The Tribunal also allowed the replacement of certain exhibits with versions that present the same information as the versions submitted during the hearing on March 8, 2016 but are more legible and easier to consult. The new versions of those exhibits are also paginated or highlighted so they can be used with the reference document referred to in paragraph 6 of this decision.
 

[22] On March 21, 2016, while the matter was under advisement, the Bureau, by email, requested submissions from the AMF concerning the addition of impleaded parties Amaya and David Baazov. The same day, counsel for the AMF submitted their comments.
ANALYSIS
[23] In the case at hand, the AMF argued that there are imperative reasons endangering the public interest and requested that the Bureau quickly hold an ex parte hearing pursuant to section 115.9 of the Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers.
 

[24] During the ex parte hearing held on March 8, 2016, the AMF presented evidence alleging that the respondents have repeatedly contravened the provisions of the Securities Act
 dealing with the use of privileged information.
[25] The AMF’s investigation shows that, since at least December 28, 2010, impleaded party David Baazov has allegedly been the source of several leaks of privileged information concerning the financial activities of Amaya and other companies, including WMS Industries Inc. and The Intertain Group Limited. The privileged information was allegedly shared specifically while acquisition plans involving the above‑mentioned companies, among others, were allegedly being discussed or implemented, and impleaded party David Baazov was allegedly at the centre of those transactions or had knowledge of them. 
[26] In addition to the respondent Josh Baazov (a.k.a. Ofer Baazov
), who is the brother of impleaded party David Baazov, the evidence adduced by the AMF reveals the following about the connections among the respondents:
· the respondent Craig Levett is apparently the sole director and majority shareholder of Baalev Investments Inc.,
 the current employer of the respondent Josh Baazov, and apparently lives in a neighbouring residence to that of the respondent Josh Baazov;

· the respondent Nathalie Bensmihan is the spouse of the respondent Craig Levett and the sister of Josh Baazov’s spouse;

· the respondent Earl Levett is the brother of the respondent Craig Levett;

· the respondent Karl Fallenbaum is a friend of the respondent Craig Levett and a fellow director of Cargo Interactive Inc.;

· the respondent Isam Mansour is an acquaintance of the respondent Craig Levett who has allegedly worked for two companies
 whose offices are adjacent to those of Baalev Investments Inc.;

· the respondent Mona Kassfy is the spouse of the respondent Isam Mansour;

· the respondent Allie Mansour is the brother of the respondent Isam Mansour;

· the respondent John Chatzidakis is a friend of the respondent Isam Mansour; 

· the respondent Eleni Psicharis is the spouse of the respondent John Chatzidakis;

· the respondent Alain Anawati is a friend of the respondents Isam Mansour and Allie Mansour;

· the respondent Feras Antoon is a friend of the respondent Isam Mansour and a Facebook friend of him and his brother, Allie Mansour;

· the respondent Mark Wael Antoon is the brother of the respondent Feras Antoon.

[27] The AMF alleges that these respondents traded in securities while in possession of privileged information and/or disclosed such privileged information. 


Obligations under the Securities Act 

[28] Section 1 of the Securities Act
 provides that the Act applies to various forms of investments:
1.  This Act applies to the following forms of investment:
 (1) any security recognized as such in the trade, more particularly, a share, bond, capital stock of an entity constituted as a legal person, or a subscription right or warrant;
. . .
[29] Since the investigation has shown that the respondents allegedly traded shares of various issuers, this is a form of investment covered by the Securities Act, which must therefore be applied.
[30] Furthermore, section 5 of the Securities Act
 defines “privileged information” as follows:
“privileged information” means any information that has not been disclosed to the public and that could affect the decision of a reasonable investor;
[31] Section 68 of that Act defines the concept of “reporting issuer”:
68. A reporting issuer is an issuer that has made a distribution of securities to the public; a reporting issuer is subject to the continuous disclosure requirements of Chapter II of this title.
An issuer is deemed to have made a distribution of securities to the public where
(1) a prospectus has been filed in respect of one of its securities and a receipt issued by the Authority;
(2) its securities, offered as consideration in a take‑over bid, have been described in a circular filed with the Authority;
(3) any of its securities has been listed on a stock exchange in Québec at any time from 6 April 1983;
(4) its securities have been distributed pursuant to an agreement, merger, amalgamation or reorganization or a similar operation involving at least one reporting issuer;
(5) its existence is the result of the continuance of an issuer contemplated in subparagraphs 1 to 4;
(6) it is contemplated in section 68.1 or 338;
(7) it is so determined by regulation;
(8) it is so designated by the Authority in accordance with section 272.2 or criteria determined by regulation.
An issuer who files a prospectus subject to a receipt issued by the Authority for the sole purpose of becoming a reporting issuer is also deemed to have made a distribution of securities to the public. The prospectus must contain the information and certificates prescribed by regulation and disclose all the material facts about the securities already issued. The rules specified for a prospectus in Title II do not apply to the prospectus.
[32] Section 187 of the Securities Act prohibits trading in the securities of a reporting issuer where an insider is in possession of privileged information relating to those securities:
187.  No insider of a reporting issuer having privileged information relating to securities of the issuer may trade in such securities or change an economic interest in a related financial instrument, except if he can prove that:
 (1) he is justified in believing that the information is generally known or known to the other party;
 (2) he is availing himself of an automatic dividend reinvestment plan, automatic subscription plan or any other automatic plan established by a reporting issuer, according to conditions set down in writing, before he learned the information; or
 (3) he is required to do so under a contract the terms of which are set out in writing and which was entered into before he became aware of the information.
In the case described in subparagraph 1 of the first paragraph, the insider may not trade in the securities if the other party to the transaction is the reporting issuer and the transaction is not necessary in the course of the issuer’s business.
[33] Further, the concept of “insider” is defined in section 89 of the Securities Act:
89. “Insider” means
(1) every director or officer of an issuer;
 (2) every director or officer of a subsidiary of an issuer;
(3) a person that exercises control over more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of an issuer other than securities underwritten in the course of a distribution;
 (4) an issuer that holds any of its securities; or
(5) a person prescribed by regulation or designated as an insider under section 272.2.
“Insider” also means a director or officer of an insider of an issuer.
[34] In this regard, it is important to note that, under section 189 of the Securities Act,
 the prohibition set out in section 187 also applies to the following persons: 

189. The prohibitions set out in sections 187 and 188 also apply to the following persons:
 (1) the officers and directors referred to in Chapter IV of Title III;
  (2) affiliates of the reporting issuer;

 (3) an investment fund manager or a person responsible for providing financial advice to an investment fund or for investing its shares or units and every person who is an insider of the investment fund manager or of that person;
 (4) every person who has acquired privileged information in the course of his relations with or of working for the reporting issuer, as a result of that person’s functions or of his engaging in business or professional activities;
 (5) every person having privileged information that, to his knowledge, was disclosed by an insider or a person referred to in this section;
 (6) every person who has acquired privileged information that he knows to be such concerning a reporting issuer;
 (7) every person who is an associate of the reporting issuer, of an insider of the latter or of a person contemplated in this section.
[35] Therefore, the following conditions must be met for section 187 of the Securities Act to be contravened:
· being an insider of a reporting issuer or being a person referred to in section 189 of the SA;

· having privileged information; and
· trading in securities of that reporting issuer.
[36] Section 188 of the Securities Act also prohibits insiders from disclosing privileged information:
   

  188. No insider of a reporting issuer having privileged information relating to securities of the issuer may disclose that information or recommend that another party trade in the securities of the issuer, except in the following cases:
 (1) he is justified in believing that the information is generally known or known to the other party;
 (2) he must disclose the information in the course of business, having no ground to believe it will be used or disclosed contrary to section 187, 189 or 189.1 or to this section.
[37] In this regard, it is important to note that the prohibition set out in section 188 of the Securities Act
 also applies to other persons by the effect of section 189, mentioned above. Therefore, the following conditions must be met for section 188 to be contravened: 
· being an insider of a reporting issuer (sections 89 and 187) or being a person referred to in section 189; and
· disclosing privileged information or recommending that another party trade in the securities of that reporting issuer.

[38] Section 189.1 of the Securities Act
 reads as follows:  

189.1. No person prohibited from trading in securities of a reporting issuer or from changing an economic interest in a related financial instrument by the effect of section 187 or 189 may use the privileged information in any other manner unless he is justified in believing that the information is generally known to the public. Thus, no such person may trade in options or in other derivatives within the meaning of the Derivatives Act (chapter I‑14.01) concerning the securities of the issuer. Nor may the person trade in the securities of another issuer, in options or in other derivatives within the meaning of the Derivatives Act or in futures contracts concerning an index, once their market prices are likely to be influenced by the price fluctuations of the issuer’s securities.
[emphasis added]
[39] Therefore, a person who may not trade in securities of a reporting issuer – by the effect of section 187 and 189 of the Securities Act
 – may not use privileged information in any other manner, including by trading in the securities of another issuer, even a non‑reporting issuer.

[40] Since the legislature did not speak in vain when it defined the terms “issuer” and “reporting issuer” separately in section 5 of the Securities Act, in the division entitled “Interpretation”, the Bureau is of the opinion that the interpretation of section 189.1 set out in paragraph 39 of this decision must be adopted.
[41] Accordingly, the following conditions must be met in the case at hand for section 189.1 of the Securities Act to be contravened:
· being an insider, within the meaning of section 89, of a reporting issuer or being a person referred to in section 189 of the Securities Act; and
· using privileged information from that reporting issuer in any other manner, including by trading in the securities of another issuer, which could be a non‑reporting issuer.
[42] In addition, the Bureau may exercise its discretion in the public interest:
93. On the request of the Authority or of any interested person, the board shall exercise the functions and powers assigned to it under this Act, the Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services (chapter D‑9.2), the Money-Services Businesses Act (chapter E‑12.000001), the Derivatives Act (chapter I‑14.01) and the Securities Act (chapter V‑1.1).
The board shall exercise its discretion in the public interest.
The board may not, when assessing the facts or the law for the purposes of those Acts, substitute its assessment of the public interest for that made by the Authority in making a decision.

[43] The Bureau notes that, in cases involving the disclosure of privileged information or trading while in possession of such information, when dealing with circumstantial evidence, certain factors – such as the following – may be analyzed to satisfy the tribunal that contraventions have occurred:
[translation]
▪  Events preceding the announcement of the privileged information;

▪  The position held by the person who disclosed the information;

▪  The interaction and relationship between the person who disclosed the information and the person who received it;

▪  The volume and timing of the transactions;

▪  Loans to purchase the securities;

▪  The fact that the transactions deviate from the respondent’s usual practice;

▪  Subsequent attempts to conceal the disclosure of privileged information.

[44] Accordingly, the Bureau will now analyze in detail the eight incidents related to the following companies:
i. Amaya Gaming Group Inc., a reporting issuer;

ii. Cryptoptologic Ltd.,  a non‑reporting issuer;

iii. Chartwell Technology Inc., a non‑reporting issuer;

iv. WMS Industries Inc., a non‑reporting issuer;

v. Oldford Group, a private company;

vi. BWIN.Party, a non‑reporting issuer;

vii. The Intertain Group Limited, a reporting issuer.


Offences alleged against the respondents



Aborted acquisition of Cryptologic Ltd. by Amaya

[45]  The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On January 12, 2011, impleaded party David Baazov and the CEO of Cryptologic Ltd. allegedly met a first time at Heathrow Airport in the United Kingdom. During that meeting, the potential acquisition of Cryptologic Ltd. by Amaya was discussed, and a price range of 2 USD to 2.45 USD per share of Cryptologic Ltd. was allegedly mentioned by impleaded party David Baazov;

· Between December 28, 2010 and January 6, 2011, several telephone calls were made from the respondent Josh Baazov’s mobile phone to that of his brother, impleaded party David Baazov. During the same period, the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly placed no fewer than 11 telephone calls to the respondent Craig Levett, who – for the first time – allegedly purchased a block of shares in Cryptologic Ltd. on January 6, 2011;

· The evidence also established that, on January 12, 2011, the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly placed five calls from his mobile phone to that of his brother, impleaded party David Baazov,
 and that in February, March and April 2011, the respondents Isam Mansour – for the first time – John Chatzidakis and Craig Levett allegedly traded in the securities of Cryptologic Ltd., several of their transactions allegedly occurring contemporaneously with telephone calls from the respondents Josh Baazov and Isam Mansour;

· On March 25, 2011, Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. allegedly terminated the confidentiality agreement signed on March 7, 2011
 and Amaya allegedly decided to drop the plan to acquire Cryptologic Ltd.

[46] Impleaded party David Baazov is an insider of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, Cryptologic Ltd. is not a reporting issuer.

[47] Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 188 of the Securities Act.

[48] The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Craig Levett and Isam Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[49] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent John Chatzidakis concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[50] The respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour and John Chatzidakis allegedly used privileged information by trading in the securities of Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 189.1 of the Securities Act.




Acquisition of Cryptologic Ltd. by Amaya  

[51] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On November 23, 2011, impleaded party David Baazov allegedly again met the CEO of Cryptologic Ltd. at Heathrow Airport in the United Kingdom to discuss the potential acquisition of Cryptologic Ltd. by Amaya;

· During a telephone call on November 24, 2011, a price range of 2.35 USD to 2.85 USD per share of Cryptologic Ltd. was allegedly specifically discussed;

· Between November 25 and December 14, 2011, the respondents Craig Levett,  Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and John Chatzidakis allegedly traded in the securities of Cryptologic Ltd.,
 and several of their transactions were allegedly contemporaneous with telephone calls made among those respondents
 and between the respondent Craig Levett and Amaya’s management offices;
 

· On December 15, 2011, Cryptologic Ltd. apparently published a press release announcing that it had reached an agreement in principle concerning its acquisition by Amaya for 2.50 USD per share, a premium of 52% over the closing price the day before;

· On December 16, 2011, the respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and John Chatzidakis allegedly exchanged no fewer than nine telephone calls
 and, between December 16, 2011 and February 27, 2012, those respondents allegedly sold – at a profit – their shares of Cryptologic Ltd.

[52] Impleaded party David Baazov and Amaya’s other officers are insiders of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, Cryptologic Ltd. is not a reporting issuer.
[53] Impleaded party David Baazov and/or other officers of Amaya allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Craig Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 188 of the Securities Act.

[54] The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Isam Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[55] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Allie Mansour and John Chatzidakis concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[56] The respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and John Chatzidakis allegedly used privileged information by trading in the securities of Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 189.1 of the Securities Act.

Acquisition of Chartwell Technology Inc. by Amaya

[57] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· In early April 2011, Amaya allegedly approached an officer of Chartwell Technology Inc. to discuss Amaya’s potential acquisition of that company.
 On April 4, 2011, a call was allegedly placed from the respondent Josh Baazov’s mobile phone to that of impleaded party David Baazov, and a few hours later to that of the respondent Craig Levett;

· On April 6, 2011, a confidentiality agreement was allegedly signed by Amaya and Chartwell Technology Inc.
 and, the same day, a telephone call was allegedly made from Josh Baazov’s mobile phone to that of impleaded party David Baazov;

· Between April 6 and May 11, 2011, the respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour – for the first time – John Chatzidakis and Alain Anawati – for the first time – allegedly traded in the securities of Chartwell Technology Inc.,
 and several of their transactions were allegedly contemporaneous with telephone calls among those respondents
 and with the respondent Josh Baazov;

· Further, the Bureau notes that the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly contacted impleaded party David Baazov by telephone on April 12 and 15, 2011.
 On those dates, he allegedly also contacted the respondents Craig Levett and Asim Mansour; 

· Moreover, it appears from the evidence that some of the respondent Isam Mansour’s transactions in the securities of Chartwell Technology Inc. on May 6 and 11, 2011 were clearly structured in anticipation of a significant increase in the value of those securities;
    
· On May 12, 2011, a press release was apparently published announcing the acquisition of Chartwell Technology Inc. by Amaya: the holders of each share of Chartwell Technology Inc. were to receive $0.875 and 0.125 shares of Amaya as compensation.
 Following that announcement, the securities of Chartwell Technology Inc. apparently opened the trading session on May 12, 2011 up significantly, and the same day, a telephone call was made from Josh Baazov’s mobile phone to that of impleaded party David Baazov;

· Between May 12 and July 19, 2011, the respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, John Chatzidakis and Alain Anawati  allegedly sold – at a profit – their shares of Chartwell Technology Inc.
 while making many telephone calls to one another contemporaneously with their transactions and following at least one telephone call from Josh Baazov.

[58] Impleaded party David Baazov is an insider of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, Chartwell Technology Inc. is not a reporting issuer.

[59] Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Chartwell Technology Inc. and thereby allegedly contravened section 188 of the Securities Act.

[60] The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Craig Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Chartwell Technology Inc. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[61] The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Isam Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Chartwell Technologies Inc. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[62] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents John Chatzidakis and Alain Anawati concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Chartwell Technologies Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[63] The respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, John Chatzidakis and Alain Anawati allegedly used privileged information by trading in the securities of Chartwell Technologies Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 189.1 of the Securities Act.

Acquisition of WMS Industries Inc. by Scientific Games

[64] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On October 26, 2012, WMS Industries Inc. allegedly instructed Macquarie Capital to contact potential buyers, including Scientific Games, to assess whether they were interested in making an offer to acquire.
 The law firm of Greenberg Traurig PA was allegedly one of Scientific Games’ legal advisers for the possible acquisition of WMS Industries Inc.,
 and Marlon Goldstein was allegedly employed by that law firm at the time. Since January 2014, however, he has allegedly been the Executive Vice‑President of Amaya;

· The evidence shows that, on January 16, 2013, Marlon Goldstein and impleaded party David Baazov allegedly spoke several times by telephone. One of the telephone calls made to Marlon Goldstein from impleaded party David Baazov’s mobile phone allegedly went through a relay on a communications tower on the building where the respondent Josh Baazov has his office. During that call, the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly sent an SMS text message to the mobile phone of the respondent Craig Levett,
 who, less than an hour later, allegedly purchased – for the first time – shares of WMS Industries Inc. by selling safe securities.
 The respondent Craig Levett’s spouse, the respondent Nathalie Bensmihan, allegedly did the same thing a few minutes later;

· On January 17, 2013, numerous telephone calls were allegedly exchanged by the respondents Josh Baazov, Craig Levett and Earl Levett. An SMS text message was allegedly even sent from the respondent Josh Baazov’s mobile phone to the respondent Craig Levett’s mobile phone.
 Shortly after that communication ended on January 17, 2013, it appears that the respondent Earl Levett used his line of credit to buy shares of WMS Industries Inc. for 200,840 USD;

· Between January 24 and 30, 2013, the respondents Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and Karl Fallenbaum allegedly also traded in the securities of WMS Industries Inc.,
 and several of their transactions were allegedly contemporaneous with telephone calls among those respondents.
 One of the transactions, carried out by the respondent Isam Mansour on January 29, 2013 in the securities of WMS Industries Inc., was allegedly even explicitly structured in anticipation of a significant increase in the value of those securities that was to occur over the following two days;

· On January 31, 2013, Scientific Games apparently issued a press release publicly announcing its acquisition of WMS Industries Inc. for 26 USD per share, which represented a premium of 59% over the closing price of that security on January 30, 2013.
 The Bureau notes that, following that announcement, the securities of WMS Industries Inc. apparently reached 145% of their average closing price during the 10 days preceding that news, with a high volume of trading;

· Furthermore, on January 31, 2013, shortly after the above‑mentioned public announcement, the respondents Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and Earl Levett allegedly sold – at a profit – their shares of WMS Industries Inc.
 Between February 5 and August 1, 2013, the respondents Craig Levett, Nathalie Bensmihan and Karl Fallenbaum allegedly did the same
 and realized substantial profits;  
· According to an analysis of the movements of funds in the bank accounts of the respondents Earl Levett and Craig Levett, there was allegedly a withdrawal of $30,077 from an account held by Earl Levett on February 11, 2013, which allegedly corresponded to the cashing of a cheque in an account held by the respondent Craig Levett.
 It appears that, on February 26, 2013, the respondent Craig Levett wrote two cheques marked “GIFT” to Ofer Baazov (a.k.a. Josh Baazov)
 for $7,600 and $24,500, which he cashed on February 27 and 28, 2013, respectively.

[65] WMS Industries and Scientific Games are not reporting issuers under section 68 of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the respondents apparently did not commit offences under sections 187 to 189.1 of the Securities Act.

[66] However, the Bureau noted that:
· Marlon Goldstein and impleaded party David Baazov allegedly spoke several times by telephone;
· One of the telephone calls made to Marlon Goldstein from impleaded party David Baazov’s mobile phone allegedly went through a relay on a communications tower on the building where the respondent Josh Baazov has his office in Quebec;
· Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between WMS Industries Inc. and Scientific Games;

· The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Craig Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between WMS Industries Inc. and Scientific Games;

· The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Karl Fallenbaum and Nathalie Benamihan concerning a possible financial transaction between WMS Industries Inc. and Scientific Games;

· The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Allie Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between WMS Industries Inc. and Scientific Games;

· The respondents Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour, Karl Fallenbaum and Nathalie Benamihan allegedly traded in the securities of WMS Industries Inc. when they had privileged information about that company;

· On February 26, 2013, the respondent Craig Levett allegedly wrote two cheques to the respondent Josh Baazov for $7,600 and $24,500. The word “GIFT” was written by hand on both cheques, which were apparently given during a period when the above‑mentioned respondents were allegedly making disclosures and trading in the securities of WMS Industries Inc. 
[67] The Bureau is of the opinion that those “gift” cheques could be related to the respondent Josh Baazov’s participation in the said disclosures and trading. The cheques could also be related to the respondent Josh Baazov’s participation in all the disclosures and trading alleged against the respondents in the case at hand.
[68] The tribunal considers the disclosures of privileged information and/or the trading in the securities of WMS Industries Inc. by the respondents Josh Baazov, Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Karl Fallenbaum, Allie Mansour and Nathalie Bensmihan to be evidence confirming the same modus operandi allegedly used by the respondents and impleaded party David Baazov in the case at hand. In the tribunal’s view, the disclosures and trading are contrary to the public interest, particularly because they undermine public confidence and the integrity of financial markets. 

Acquisition of Olford Group by Amaya

[69] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On December 2 and 3, 2013, representatives of Amaya, including impleaded party David Baazov, allegedly met with representatives of Oldford Group on the Isle of Man to discuss the potential acquisition of Oldford Group and, in particular, a possible purchase price;

· On April 1, 2014, impleaded party David Baazov was allegedly informed that the outside financing required for Amaya to make the acquisition had been obtained.
 It appears from the evidence that, on April 4, 2014, impleaded party David Baazov and the respondent Josh Baazov texted each other from their respective mobile phones.
 Less than ten minutes after the end of that exchange of texts on April 4, 2014, the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly called the respondent Craig Levett,
 who – a few minutes later – allegedly purchased shares of Amaya;

· Moreover, between April 24 and June 11, 2014, the respondents Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour, Eleni Psicharis and Karl Fallenbaum allegedly traded in the securities of Amaya,
 and several of their transactions were allegedly contemporaneous with telephone calls among those respondents
 and with the respondents John Chatzidakis and Josh Baazov. Several transactions were allegedly also contemporaneous with texts and telephone calls between the respondent Josh Baazov and impleaded party David Baazov on April 24, 2014.
 The evidence even includes an audio recording of the respondent Isam Mansour from April 24, 2014 in which he specifically refers to disclosures about Amaya made by impleaded party David Baazov and by the respondents Josh Baazov and Craig Levett;

· On June 12, 2014, after the markets closed, Amaya apparently issued a press release announcing its acquisition of 100% of the shares of Oldford Group for a total of $4.9 billion in cash.
 On June 13, 2014, Amaya’s securities apparently opened up by more than 135% from their closing price the day before;

· The evidence shows that, between June 13 and July 8, 2014, the respondents Earl Levett, Asim Mansour, Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour, Eleni Psicharis and Karl Fallenbaum allegedly sold their shares of Amaya and realized significant profits.
 The respondent Craig Levett apparently decided to keep his shares of Amaya for future trading but still made significant unrealized profits;

· The Bureau notes that, during the period of June 12 to July 8, 2014, the respondents Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour, John Chatzidakis, Eleni Psicharis and Karl Fallenbaum were allegedly in frequent contact with one another, sometimes contemporaneously with their transactions in the securities of Amaya.

[70] Impleaded party David Baazov is an insider of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, Olford Group is not a reporting issuer.

[71] Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Olford Group and thereby allegedly contravened section 188 of the Securities Act.

[72] The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Olford Group and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[73] The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Earl Levett, Isam Mansour and Karl Fallenbaum concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Olford Group and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[74] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour and John Chatzidakis concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Olford Group and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[75] The respondent John Chatzidakis allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Eleni Psicharis concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Olford Group and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[76] The respondents Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Karl Fallenbaum, Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour, John Chatzidakis and Eleni Psicharis allegedly traded in the securities of Amaya when they had privileged information and thereby allegedly contravened sections 187 and 189 of the Securities Act.

Acquisition of BWIN Party Entertainment plc (“BWIN”) by Amaya

[77] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On September 8 and 9, 2014, impleaded party David Baazov allegedly emailed the CEO of BWIN Party Entertainment plc (hereinafter “BWIN”) while they were in New York to arrange a meeting between them in that city;

· Early on September 15, 2014, the respondent Josh Baazov was allegedly in contact with impleaded party David Baazov by text and telephone.
 This was followed by an intense series of texts and telephone calls later the same day among the respondents Josh Baazov, Craig Levett, Isam Mansour and John Chatzidakis;

· On September 16, 2014, impleaded party David Baazov and the respondent Josh Baazov were allegedly in contact again by telephone and text.
 During that day, communication among the above‑mentioned respondents allegedly continued and was even extended to the respondent Earl Levett.
 It appears from the evidence that, on September 16, 2014, the respondent Isam Mansour purchased – for the first time – shares of BWIN.
 On September 17, 2014, the telephone calls and texts between impleaded party David Baazov and the respondent Josh Baazov
 allegedly intensified, and the same was apparently true among the other respondents. During the day on September 17, 2014, the respondents Earl Levett – for the first time – Isam Mansour and Eleni Psicharis allegedly purchased shares of BWIN;
  
· On September 18, 2014, an employee of Amaya allegedly emailed Daniel Sebag, Amaya’s CFO, to ask him the following: “Any movement on bwin.party? Is David (Baazov) still thinking about it?”.
 On September 22, 2014, the same employee allegedly sent another email about BWIN, but that email was sent directly to impleaded party David Baazov.
 On September 29 and 30, 2014, the respondents Isam Mansour, Ferras Antoon and Craig Levett were allegedly in contact contemporaneously with the purchase by the respondents Isam Mansour and Ferras Antoon – for the first time – of shares of BWIN;

· On October 6, 2014, Goldman Sachs allegedly confirmed to impleaded party David Baazov that it could represent Amaya in connection with a potential offer to acquire BWIN.
 Between October 10 and November 3, 2014, the respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour – for the first time – Eleni Psicharis and Mark Wael Antoon allegedly purchased shares of BWIN while in frequent contact with one another;
 
· On November 7, 2014, media outlets in the United Kingdom mentioned acquisition rumours about BWIN.
 On November 11, 2014, the respondent Josh Baazov allegedly contacted impleaded party David Baazov and the respondent Craig Levett.
 On November 12, 2014, starting at 4:42 a.m., several texts were allegedly exchanged between the respondents Josh Baazov and Craig Levett.
 At 7:14 a.m. on November 12, 2014, BWIN apparently published a press release confirming that it was in discussions about its potential acquisition. That day, the value of its securities, listed on the London Stock Exchange, apparently increased by 110%, with a high volume of trading;

· On November 13, 2014, the respondents Craig Levett, Earl Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour, Eleni Psicharis, Ferras Antoon and Mark Wael Antoon allegedly sold – at a profit – their shares of BWIN while in frequent contact with one another.
 The Bureau notes in particular that, during a telephone call recorded on November 13, 2014 at 10:54 a.m., the respondent Isam Mansour allegedly told the respondent Ferras Antoon that “I got the word to get out” and “I guess the mission is being aborted”.

[78] Impleaded party David Baazov is an insider of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, BWIN is not a reporting issuer.

[79] Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and Cryptologic Ltd. and thereby allegedly contravened section 188 of the Securities Act.

[80] The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Craig Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[81] The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Earl Levett and Isam Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[82] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour, John Chatzidakis and Ferras Antoon concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[83] The respondent John Chatzidakis allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Eleni Psicharis concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[84] The respondents Ferras Antoon and Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Mark Wael Antoon concerning a possible financial transaction between Amaya and BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 et 189 of the Securities Act.

[85] The respondents Craig Levett, Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour, Earl Levett, Ferras Antoon, Mark Wael Antoon and Eleni Psicharis allegedly used privileged information by trading in the securities of BWIN and thereby allegedly contravened section 189.1 of the  Securities Act.


Acquisition of Gamesys by The Intertain Group Limited (“INTERTAIN”)
[86] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On November 21, 2014, impleaded party David Baazov was allegedly informed by email that The Intertain Group Limited (hereinafter “INTERTAIN”) had just secured $200 million in financing, possibly for the purpose of acquiring Gamesys.
 On December 2, 2014, that information was apparently confirmed by an article published in EGR Magazine;

· The evidence shows that, between January 6 and 26, 2015, the respondents Isam Mansour – for the first time – Mona Kassfy, Eleni Psicharis, Ferras Antoon and Mark Wael Antoon allegedly engaged in a series of transactions in the securities of INTERTAIN while in extensive contact with one another and with the respondent Craig Levett. The evidence also shows that, during that period, the respondent Craig Levett was allegedly in frequent contact with the respondent Josh Baazov, who was himself allegedly in frequent contact with impleaded party David Baazov;
  
· On January 27, 2015 at 9:48 a.m., INTERTAIN apparently issued a press release disclosing that it was in discussions about the potential acquisition of another company’s assets.
 Following that announcement, INTERTAIN’s securities apparently closed the trading session on January 27, 2015 up 120% from their average closing price during the previous 10 days;
· On February 5, 2015 at 8:06 a.m., INTERTAIN apparently issued another press release announcing that it was buying a portion of Gamesys’ assets.
 Shortly after that public announcement on February 5, 2015, as well as on February 6 and 10, 2015, the respondents Isam Mansour, Mona Kassfy, Eleni Psicharis, Ferras Antoon and Mark Wael Antoon allegedly sold – at a profit – their shares of INTERTAIN.

[87] INTERTAIN is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act. However, Gamesys is not a reporting issuer.

[88] Impleaded party David Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Josh Baazov concerning a possible financial transaction between INTERTAIN and Gamesys and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[89] The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Craig Levett concerning a possible financial transaction between INTERTAIN and Gamesys and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[90] The respondent Craig Levett allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Earl Levett and Isam Mansour concerning a possible financial transaction between INTERTAIN and Gamesys and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[91] The respondent Isam Mansour allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondents Mona Kassfy, Allie Mansour and Ferras Antoon concerning a possible financial transaction between INTERTAIN and Gamesys and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[92] The respondent Ferras Antoon allegedly disclosed privileged information to the respondent Mark Wael Antoon concerning a possible financial transaction between INTERTAIN and Gamesys and thereby allegedly contravened sections 188 and 189 of the Securities Act.

[93] The respondents Isam Mansour, Eleni Psicharis, Mona Psycharis, Ferras Antoon and Mark Wael Antoon allegedly traded in the securities of INTERTAIN when they had privileged information and thereby allegedly contravened sections 187 et 189 of the Securities Act.



Announcement by David Baazov of the potential privatization of Amaya
[94] The Bureau especially noted the following from the evidence adduced by the AMF:
· On February 1, 2016, impleaded party David Baazov apparently issued a press release publicly announcing that he and a group of investors with which he was apparently in discussions intended to privatize Amaya by offering to purchase all of that company’s shares for about $21 per share, which apparently represented a premium of about 40% over the closing price of that security during the previous trading session;

· In the days preceding that announcement, namely January 19, 20, 21 and 27, 2016, the respondents Asim Mansour, Allie Mansour and Earl Levett allegedly purchased shares of Amaya, making significant unrealized profits (since they had allegedly not yet sold the shares).

[95] Impleaded party David Baazov is an insider of Amaya, which is a reporting issuer in accordance with section 68 of the Securities Act.

[96]  The respondents Isam Mansour, Allie Mansour and Earl Levett allegedly traded in the securities of Amaya when they had privileged information and thereby allegedly contravened sections 187 and 189 of the Securities Act.



Conclusion of the analysis
[97] In summary, the evidence adduced by the AMF indicates that a considerable number of offences related to the use of privileged information have allegedly been committed by the respondents in the case at hand and that the main source of that privileged information appears to be impleaded party David Baazov, the chief officer, second shareholder and an insider of Amaya, a reporting issuer under the Securities Act.

[98] The AMF’s investigation concerning the respondents and impleaded party David Baazov is ongoing. However, it has already uncovered a complex series of stock exchange transactions, movements of funds between various accounts
 and telephone calls revealing a modus operandi with impleaded party David Baazov as the alleged source of a major leak of privileged information from which the respondents have allegedly benefited financially.
[99] The evidence includes telephone recordings
 of conversations that are alleged to directly confirm the respondents’ modus operandi identified by the AMF’s investigation. In that modus operandi, privileged information allegedly flows mainly from impleaded party David Baazov to his brother, the respondent Josh Baazov, and is then relayed to the respondents Craig Levett and Isam Mansour and trickles down to the other respondents, to whom they are connected in various ways.
[100] The respondents are alleged to have communicated with one another contemporaneously with their alleged securities transactions, which were seemingly related, in particular, to company announcements of important information that could allegedly affect the decision of a reasonable investor. 
[101] That information, which had not been disclosed to the public, was allegedly used unlawfully by the respondents to carry out stock exchange transactions and realize profits that are currently estimated by the AMF at over $1 million. The respondent Josh Baazov allegedly made profits indirectly through transactions unlawfully carried out through the respondents Craig and Earl Levett or received “gift cheques”
 for sharing privileged information disclosed by his brother, impleaded party David Baazov. 
[102] The AMF’s investigation has apparently identified a set of companies, bank accounts, brokerage accounts and property controlled by the respondents that are allegedly being used at this time to hold the profits they have unlawfully accumulated, which could be squandered, transferred or used to finance other unlawful transactions using privileged information. According to the investigator, the respondent Isam Mansour even appears to have left Canada, emptied his accounts and sold his residence.
[103]  The following table, which is based on the AMF’s evidence, summarizes the unlawful profits allegedly resulting from the respondents’ stock exchange transactions:
	Issuer’s name
	Respondent
	Profits realized

	Cryptologic Ltd.
	Craig Levett
	$10,227

	 
	Isam Mansour
	$13,953

	 
	John Chatzidakis
	$7,575

	 
	Allie Mansour
	$6,900

	 
	 
	 

	Chartwell Technology Inc.
	Craig Levett
	$5,187

	 
	Isam Mansour
	$10,574

	 
	John Chatzidakis
	$8,439

	 
	Alain Anawati
	$9,620

	 
	 
	 

	WMS Industries Inc.
	Craig Levett
	25,216.66 USD

	 
	Isam Mansour
	25,324.49 USD

	 
	Allie Mansour
	6,384 USD

	 
	Nathalie Bensmihan
	31,615.76 USD

	 
	Earl Levett
	76,952.70 USD

	 
	Karl Fallenbaum
	4,935.92 USD

	 
	 
	 

	Amaya / Oldford Group 
	Craig Levett
	$152,567 
(unrealized profits)

	 
	Isam Mansour
	approx. $256,039

	 
	Eleni Psicharis
	$46,605

	 
	Allie Mansour
	$67,264

	 
	Earl Levett
	$155,839

	 
	Karl Fallenbaum
	$111,478

	 
	Mona Kassfy
	$17,285

	 
	 
	 

	BWIN Party
	Craig Levett
	£26,227 

	 
	Isam Mansour
	$122,606

	 
	Allie Anawati
	$11,965

	 
	Earl Levett
	$11,132

	 
	Feras Antoon
	$38,617

	 
	Mark Wael Antoon
	$1,568

	 
	Eleni Psicharis
	$13,829

	 
	 
	 

	INTERTAIN
	Isam Mansour
	$16,658

	 
	Eleni Psicharis
	$200

	 
	Mona Kassfy
	$3,173

	 
	Feras Antoon
	$44,812

	 
	Mark Wael Antoon
	$1,776

	 
	
	

	Amaya 
	Isam Mansour
	$56,513

	
	Allie Mansour
	$3,620

	
	Earl Levett
	$1,435


[104] The AMF’s detailed analysis of both the chronology of events and the nature of the respondents’ transactions and movements of funds provides, on a prima facie basis, circumstantial evidence that the Bureau considers preponderant.
[105] Given the size of Amaya’s capitalization and its possible plans to privatize or to acquire other companies, the risk that the respondents will continue to operate using the modus operandi alleged to have been uncovered by the AMF’s investigation, and the danger that this poses to the public interest, investor confidence and market integrity, are considered unacceptable  by the Bureau.   
[106] As the Bureau noted in Autorité des marchés financiers v. Côté:

[translation]

[15] Unlawful use of privileged information is a serious offence that is strongly condemned in the world of securities. By committing this act, lawbreakers short‑circuit the proper functioning of the market using information known only to them. They create an imbalance between those who know and those who do not.
[16] The former use the information known only to them to trade in securities, while the latter, who are unaware of everything known by the former, are not able to benefit from it and see other people pocketing profits or avoiding losses without always understanding why things happen the way they happen.
[17] The orderly operation of securities markets presupposes that everyone is equal in those markets. In other words, market participants should be able to trade when all of them have the same information and can therefore make informed investment decisions.

[18] Trading in securities while using privileged information destroys the foundation of the principle that everyone is equal in the markets. People who do so pocket profits or avoid losses because they have learned things about a company that have not yet been disclosed to the public. But the law expressly prohibits this type of behaviour, since it is felt that the use of privileged information creates an unfair advantage for those who benefit from it.
[19] The worst consequence of such use is that it undermines confidence in the financial markets. When the commission of such an offence becomes known, the public loses confidence in the markets; people feel like they have been cheated and like the profits they expected to make have instead gone to those who duped them. This situation is harmful, and it is important for financial authorities to deal appropriately with such cases when they arise.
 

[emphasis added]

[107] With regard to the fundamental importance of maintaining investor confidence, the Bureau reiterates the important message that it gave in Autorité des marchés financiers v. Lemire
 and repeated in Autorité des marchés financiers v. Beauchamp:

[translation]
In this regard, the Bureau notes the fundamental importance of maintaining investor trust in the equitable operations of the stock market, and the need to intervene forcefully to protect this key aspect in the market’s continuity. The events that affected the world’s main financial markets in 2007 and 2008 concern anyone who might still have any doubts about the possibility that the markets can break down when trust is broken
. 
 

[emphasis added]
[108] In the Bureau’s opinion, it is in the public interest to suspend the respondent John Chatzidakis’ certificate of practice in all sectors for which he is registered and to revoke the rights granted by his registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer, given that he allegedly disclosed and used privileged information several times.

[109] Moreover, although the AMF is not requesting any order against Amaya and David Baazov (Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and second shareholder of Amaya), the Bureau, on its own initiative, considered it necessary to add them as impleaded parties in this decision, as permitted by section 44 of the Rules of procedure of the Bureau de décision et de révision:

44.  The tribunal or the board may, on its own initiative, order the impleading of any person whose interests may be affected by its decision.
[110] Although no conclusion is being requested with respect to them, the tribunal is of the opinion that their interests could be affected, since David Baazov, the chief officer of Amaya, is allegedly the main source of the disclosures of privileged information and, in the present context, this decision could have an impact on Amaya’s business. 

Imperative reasons
[111] Since the evidence adduced by the AMF specifically showed that impleaded party David Baazov appears to be the respondents’ main source of privileged information, and since he is currently the Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and second shareholder of Amaya, the Bureau is of the opinion that there is an imminent risk that leaks of privileged information about the business of that reporting issuer
 will occur again and will enable the respondents to reoffend by engaging in further unlawful transactions. The sharing of privileged information has allegedly taken place over a period of several years and has allegedly enabled the thirteen respondents to unlawfully accumulate significant profits.
[112] Moreover, the Bureau reiterates that, on February 1, 2016, impleaded party David Baazov publicly announced
 his intention of offering a premium to the holders of Amaya’s securities for the purpose of privatizing that company. The investigation shows that at least three respondents allegedly traded in the securities of Amaya while having privileged information about that announcement. 
[113] As well, since the respondents have allegedly already pocketed more than $1 million in unlawful profits, the Bureau fears that they will be able to finance similar transactions in the future, jeopardizing market integrity and investor confidence even further. 
[114] The Bureau also fears that the respondents will dispose of the amounts they have allegedly received as a result of the alleged contraventions.
[115] The fact that one of the respondents is a representative of a mutual fund dealer registered with the AMF, namely John Chatzidakis,
 is an aggravating factor. 

[116] In the Bureau’s view, the circumstantial evidence adduced by the AMF during the ex parte hearing on March 8 and 14, 2016 shows prima facie, by a preponderance of evidence, that there are imperative reasons for immediate intervention by the Bureau to protect the public and maintain market integrity. With regard to those imperative reasons, the Bureau notes in particular:
· The illegal sharing of privileged information with the respondents, the main source of which is allegedly impleaded party David Baazov, Amaya’s most senior officer, must cease; 

· Impleaded party David Baazov is allegedly currently in a position to continue illegally sharing privileged information with the respondents concerning the business of at least one major reporting issuer in Quebec, namely Amaya;

· The respondents are allegedly responsible for many unlawful transactions carried out over several years as a result of obtaining privileged information disclosed mainly by impleaded party David Baazov. Such transactions damage market integrity and undermine public confidence;
· One of the respondents, John Chatzidakis, is currently registered with the AMF as a mutual fund dealer;

· The ongoing investigation has shown that the respondents are alleged to have recently traded illegally in the securities of Amaya using privileged information concerning the public announcement by impleaded party David Baazov that he intends to privatize that company;

· Since the investigation shows that the respondents have allegedly accumulated over $1 million in profits by trading illegally on the basis of privileged information, there is an immediate risk that they will use those profits to finance similar transactions in the future, which could therefore be on a larger scale than the ones already carried out, or that they will dispose of the amounts allegedly accumulated in violation of the law. 

[117] The evidence adduced to the Bureau by the AMF during an ex parte hearing is, of course, not contradicted or contested by the respondents because of the very nature of such a hearing: this is why reference is made to the concept of prima facie evidence.
 However, the tribunal must be satisfied by the preponderance of the evidence submitted that there are imperative reasons for proceeding ex parte and for granting each of the requested orders.
 

[118]  In the case at hand, the orders sought by the AMF are protective, preventive and conservatory in nature. Moreover, the AMF’s investigation in this case is ongoing. 

[119] The Bureau has considered the AMF’s application and heard the testimony of its investigator. It has also reviewed all the documents filed during the ex parte hearing on March 8 and 14, 2016. It has also duly considered the arguments made by counsel for the AMF. 
DISPOSITION
WHEREAS the AMF submitted preponderant proof that there are imperative reasons warranting immediate action in order to protect the public interest, the Bureau de décision et de révision, pursuant to sections 93 and 115.9 of An Act respecting the Autorité des marchés financiers
, sections 152, 249 and 265 of the Securities Act
, section 115 of An Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services
, and sections 44 and 62 of the Rules of procedure of the Bureau de décision et de révision
, hereby: 

ALLOWS the amended application of the Autorité des marchés financiers in the case at hand;
PROHIBITS respondent Josh Baazov from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Josh Baazov not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Josh Baazov to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Toronto‑Dominion Bank, domiciled at 2065 St-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Quebec, H4M 1P1, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Toronto-Dominion Bank, domiciled at 2065 St‑Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Quebec, H4M 1P1, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Josh Baazov, particularly in the account bearing number [...];
PROHIBITS respondent Craig Levett from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Craig Levett not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Craig Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, National Bank Financial Inc., domiciled at 1 Ville-Marie Place, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 4A9, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, National Bank Financial, domiciled at 1 Ville‑Marie Place, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 4A9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Craig Levett, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS respondent Craig Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business located at 2065 Saint-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Montréal, H4M 1P1, particularly in the account bearing number […];

ORDERS the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business located at 2065 Saint-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Montréal, H4M 1P1, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Craig Levett, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS respondent Craig Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Craig Levett, particularly in the account bearing number [...]; 

ORDERS respondent Craig Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the account bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Craig Levett, particularly in the account bearing prefix […];

PROHIBITS respondent Nathalie Bensmihan from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Nathalie Bensmihan not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in her possession;

ORDERS respondent Nathalie Bensmihan to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for her, including in particular from the impleaded party, National Bank Financial, domiciled at 1 Ville-Marie Place, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 4A9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, National Bank Financial, domiciled at 1 Ville‑Marie Place, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 4A9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Nathalie Bensmihan, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

PROHIBITS respondent Isam Mansour from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Isam Mansour not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Isam Mansour to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, BMO InvestorLine Inc., having a place of business at 630 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 1S6, particularly in the account bearing number […];

ORDERS the impleaded party, BMO InvestorLine Inc., having a place of business at 630 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 1S6, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Isam Mansour, particularly in the account bearing number […];

ORDERS respondent Isam Mansour to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix […];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Isam Mansour, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix […];

PROHIBITS respondent Mona Kassfy from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Mona Kassfy not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in her possession;

ORDERS respondent Mona Kassfy to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for her, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Mona Kassfy, particularly in the account bearing number […];

PROHIBITS respondent Allie Mansour from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Allie Mansour not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Allie Mansour to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business located at 2065 Saint-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Montréal, H4M 1P1, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business located at 2065 Saint-Louis Street, Saint-Laurent, Montréal, H4M 1P1, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Allie Mansour, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

PROHIBITS respondent John Chatzidakis from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities; 

ORDERS respondent John Chatzidakis not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent John Chatzidakis to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, The Bank of Nova Scotia, having a place of business at 1002 Sherbrooke Street West, Montréal, Quebec, H3A 3L6, particularly in the account bearing number [...]; 

ORDERS the impleaded party, The Bank of Nova Scotia, having a place of business at 1002 Sherbrooke Street West, Montréal, Quebec, H3A 3L6, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent John Chatzidakis, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS respondent John Chatzidakis to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the account bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent John Chatzidakis, particularly in the account bearing prefix [...];

SUSPENDS, with immediate effect, the rights granted to respondent John Chatzidakis by his registration as a mutual fund dealer representative, pursuant to section 152 of the Securities Act;
SUSPENDS, with immediate effect, the certificate of practice bearing number [...] held by respondent John Chatzidakis in all disciplines for which he is registered;

PROHIBITS respondent Eleni Psicharis from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Eleni Psicharis not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in her possession;

ORDERS respondent Eleni Psicharis to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for her, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd, having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Eleni Psicharis, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

PROHIBITS respondent Alain Anawati from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Alain Anawati not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Alain Anawati to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, BMO InvestorLine Inc., having a place of business at 630 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 1S6, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, BMO InvestorLine Inc., having a place of business at 630 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 1S6, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Alain Anawati, particularly in the account bearing number […];

PROHIBITS respondent Karl Fallenbaum from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Karl Fallenbaum not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Karl Fallenbaum to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business at 720 Mile End, 6th Floor, Montréal, Quebec, H2R 3A4, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix […];

ORDERS the impleaded party, TD Waterhouse Canada Inc., having a place of business at 720 Mile End, 6th Floor, Montréal, Quebec, H2R 3A4, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Karl Fallenbaum, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

PROHIBITS respondent Earl Levett from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Earl Levett not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Earl Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Dundee Securities Ltd., having a place of business at 1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montréal, Quebec, H3B 5E9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Earl Levett, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

ORDERS respondent Earl Levett to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, Industrial Alliance, having a place of business at 1080 Grande Allée West, Québec, Quebec, G1S 1C7, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, Industrial Alliance, having a place of business at 1080 Grande Allée West, Québec, Quebec, G1S 1C7, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Earl Levett, particularly in the accounts bearing prefix [...];

PROHIBITS respondent Feras Antoon from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Feras Antoon not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Feras Antoon to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Feras Antoon, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

PROHIBITS respondent Mark Wael Antoon from engaging either directly or indirectly in any activity in respect of a transaction in securities;

ORDERS respondent Mark Wael Antoon not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other property in his possession;

ORDERS respondent Mark Wael Antoon to refrain from withdrawing funds, securities or other assets from any other person having them on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for him, including in particular from the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS the impleaded party, RBC Direct Investing Inc., having a place of business at 1 Ville-Marie Place, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Montréal, Quebec, H3C 3A9, not to either directly or indirectly dispose of funds, securities or other assets it has on deposit, under control or in safekeeping for respondent Mark Wael Antoon, particularly in the account bearing number [...];

ORDERS, with the exception of the Autorité des marchés financiers and its representatives, to not publish, distribute or disclose the present decision until such time as all parties have been notified of the decision and the decision has been made public;

ORDERS that David Baazov and Amaya Gaming Group Inc. be made impleaded parties to this decision.

Pursuant to the second paragraph of section 115.9 of An Act respecting the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, the Bureau hereby informs the respondents that they have 15 days to file a notice of contestation with the Bureau so that a hearing on this decision may be held, as applicable.
It is therefore incumbent on the respondents to contact the Secretariat of the Bureau at 1‑877‑873-2211 to inform the Bureau of their intention to file a notice of contestation, as applicable. The respondents should also note that a party has the right to be represented by counsel. The Bureau also hereby informs legal persons and entities wishing to be heard in this matter that they are required to be represented by counsel during a hearing before the Bureau. 
Pursuant to section 250 of the Securities Act
, the freeze orders take effect on March 22, 2016, and shall remain in effect for a renewable period of 120 days, ending on July 19, 2016, unless they are amended or repealed before the expiry of this term. 
The other orders take effect on the date on which they are made and shall remain in effect until such time as they are repealed or amended.
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